05/31/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0178

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Case Number: DA 24-0178

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

CRAIG ALLEN MCCREA,

Defendant and Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF MONTANA BEFORE THE HONORABLE ROBERT L. DESCHAMPS III

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT CRAIG ALLEN MCCREA

Shandor S. Badaruddin SHANDOR S. BADARUDDIN, PC 736 South Third Street West Missoula, Montana 59801 Telephone: (406) 728-6868

Facsimile: (406) 728-7722 shandor@shandorlaw.com tricia@shandorlaw.com

Attorney for Appellant McCrea

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(b) Appellant Craig McCrea states the issues presented for review are as follows:

Issue One: The District Court erred when it denied Appellant's Motion to Suppress.

- a. Preservation of Review: This issue was raised and ruled upon as follows:
 - i. In Appellant's Motion to Suppress, *See* Record at Register of Actions Listing, Filing No. 41, hereinafter "ROA at [document sequence no.]," or ROA 41.
 - ii. In Appellant's Argument at the Hearing on the Appellant's Motion to Suppress, *See* Transcript of the Proceedings on Appeal, Motions Hearing on July 27, 2023, hereinafter "Tx-MTNS" at 22:7-27:24.
 - iii. In Appellant's Reply Brief in Support of Motion to Suppress, ROA49.
 - iv. The district court denied the motion below. *See* Tx-MTNS at 27:20-27:24.

Issue Two: The District Court erred when it denied Appellant's Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss with regard to Count 2 of the Amended Information.

a. Preservation of Review: This issue was raised and ruled upon as follows:

- In Appellant's Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss, ROA 39.
- ii. In Appellant's Argument at the Hearing on the Appellant's Motion to Suppress, *See* Tx-MTNS at 10:1-18:5.
- iii. In Appellant's Reply Brief in Support of Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss, ROA 48.
- iv. The district court denied the Motion. Order, ROA 53, entered August 28, 2023.

Issue Three: The District Court imposed an illegal sentence.

a. Preservation of Review:

i. The sentence is illegal and no objection or ruling is necessary to preserve review of an illegal sentence. *State v. Thibeault*, 2021 MT 162, ¶9, 404 Mont. 476, 490 P.3d 105, *citing State v. Coleman*, 2018 MT 290, ¶¶7-11, 393 Mont. 375, 431 P.3d 26, ("....[U]npreserved assertions of error that a particular sentence or sentencing condition was either facially illegal (*i.e.*, of a type or character not authorized by statute or otherwise in excess of the statutorily authorized range or limit for that type of sentence or condition), or facially legal but authorized by a facially unconstitutional statute, are subject to review for the first time on appeal."); *See Also State v. Tippets*, 2022

MT 81, ¶9, 408 Mont. 249, 509 P.3d 1 ("On appeal, we generally refuse to review an issue to which the party failed to object at the trial court level, unless a criminal sentence 'is alleged to be illegal or in excess of statutory mandates.' *State v. Kotwicki*, 2007 MT 17, ¶8, 355 Mont. 344, 151 P.3d 892 (*citing State v. Lenihan*, 184 Mont. 338, 343, 602 P.2d 997, 1000 (1979))."

ii. Appellant nevertheless preserved the issue by filing a timely objection to the sentence pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-116(2). See ROA 64.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(c), Appellant indicates briefly the nature of the case and the procedural disposition in the district court below, and states as follows:

Appellant was charged by Information on May 16, 2022 with the offense of Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs, a felony, (a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-102). ROA 4. The Information alleged only one count, and the dangerous drug was alleged to be fentanyl. *Id.* Appellant entered a plea of not guilty, ROA 6. Appellant was subsequently charged in an Amended Information with the same offenses, Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs, a felony, (a violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-102), but the Amended Information alleged two counts. ROA 20.

Count 1 alleged possession of fentanyl and Count 2 alleged possession of methamphetamine. *Id*.

Prior to trial, Appellant filed a Motion to Suppress, ROA 41, seeking to suppress specified evidence on the grounds it was seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Art. II, §§10 and 11 of the Montana Constitution. *See* ROA 41, page 6, Section II. Appellant also filed a Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss both counts of the Amended Information on the grounds the prosecution was barred by, *inter alia*, Art. II, §25 of the Montana Constitution. ROA 39, pages 1-2.

The district court conducted a hearing on the motions on July 27, 2023, ROA 52; *See Also*, Tx-MTNS. The district court denied the Motion to Suppress with an oral order from the bench during the hearing, (Tx-MTNS at 27:20-27:24), and issued a written order granting in part, and denying in part, the Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss. *See* ROA 53. The Order granted the plea of former jeopardy on Count 1 (fentanyl) of the Amended Information, dismissing Count 1, and denied the motion with regard to Count 2 (methamphetamine).

Appellant subsequently entered into a negotiated plea agreement in which he reserved the right to appeal the denial of his pretrial motions, the Motion to Suppress

¹ The Appellant does not appeal the propriety of the denial of the motion based on the statutory double jeopardy bar under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-11-504. *See* ROA 39, pages 1-2.

and the Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-12-204(3), ROA 55, page 5, ¶5, as well as entered a plea of guilty to Count 2, Possession of Dangerous Drugs, methamphetamine, in violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-9-102. *See* ROA 55, page 4, ¶1. The State consented to the reservation of the right to appeal the denial of Appellant's Pretrial Motions, ROA 55, page 8 (signature of prosecutor), and district court approved the reservation. *See* Transcript of the Proceedings on Appeal, Change of Plea Hearing, October 31, 2023 and Sentencing, January 24, 2024, hereinafter "Tx" at 22:2-22:3; *See Also*, 17:17-17:18.

Appellant was sentenced and final judgment entered on January 25, 2024, ROA 61. Appellant filed a timely objection to the Judgment pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-116(2) and the district court below has not ruled on the objection as of the date of this Brief.

Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal on March 22, 2024.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(d), Appellant states the facts relevant to the issues presented for review, with references to the pages or parts of the record at which material facts appear, are as follows:

- a. Facts Relevant to Issue One: Denial of Motion to Suppress the May 5,2022 Stop.
 - On May 5, 2022, Law Enforcement officers initiated a stop of an automobile, a 2017 Silver Chevy Impala, driven by Appellant McCrea, with three passengers aboard. See Generally, Exhibit 1 at ROA 42, Lake County Sheriff's Office Report.
 - ii. The Chevy Impala was owned by Appellant McCrea's father, Robert McCrea. *Id* at page McCrea 007, (Vehicle 1). Appellant McCrea was alleged to have driven the Silver Impala owned by his father, "frequently." *Id* at page McCrea 009, (first paragraph of "Narrative."). There were three passengers, Cassidy Muth, David Kallowat and Bradley Williams. *Id* at page McCrea 010; *See Also*, *Id*. at page McCrea 006-007 (Suspect Information).
 - iii. Appellant McCrea did not do anything illegal to justify a stop. He did not commit any traffic infractions and was compliant with all state and local registration requirements. *See Id. Generally*.
 - iv. Detective Sciaretta of the Lake County Sheriff's Office, badge number 1512, wrote the Report at page McCrea 004 of Exhibit 1 at ROA 42. Detective Sciaretta logged events in his report in chronological order as they occurred after 11:35:29 a.m. on May 5,

2022. See Id. at pages McCrea 012-014. The stop was initiated at 11:35:29 a.m. on May 5, 2022. See Id. at page McCrea 012, which provides:

1. "P>IC< TRAFFIC STO 1113529"

- v. Cassidy Muth and Craig McCrea were "detained" *See Id* at page McCrea 012 which provides:
 - 1. "1512: CODE 4, X4 IOS ON SCENE. CASSIDY & CRAIG MCCREA DETAINED. NO NEED"
 - 2. "220505/114105/DP001,MC911"
 - 3. This entry conveys the following information: (1) Badge No. 1512, Detective Sciaretta, was indicating "Code 4," or everything was under control and the scene was "safe" and there was no need to dispatch additional officers to help secure the scene because it was secure; (2) Muth and McCrea, and probably Kallowat and Williams also, were detained and in custody; and (3) These circumstances and conditions and events existed at 11:41:05 a.m. on May 5, 2022.
- vi. At 11:41:33 a.m. on May 5, 2022, after the stop, after Appellant McCrea and the other suspects were detained and the scene under

control, Detective Sciaretta was advised there was a warrant outstanding for the arrest of Muth. *See Id.* at page McCrea 013, which provides:

- 1. "ADV 1512 OF MUTHS 29"
- 2. "220505/114133/DP001,MC911"
- 3. This entry conveys the following information: (1) "Adv" means advised; (2) "1512" refers to Detective Sciaretta.

 The reference is to his badge number; (3) A "29" is police code for an outstanding warrant; and (4) "Muths 29" refers to Cassidy Muth's outstanding warrant.
- 4. In other words, Detective Sciaretta was advised by dispatch of Cassidy Muth's arrest warrant at 11:41:33 a.m. on May 5, 2022, which was after he stopped the Chevy Impala, and not before.
- vii. As a result of the stop, Detective Sciaretta and other Government Agents discovered evidence Appellee used against Appellant McCrea, including, but not limited to: (1) illegal Drugs and drug residue (methamphetamine and fentanyl); (2) drug paraphernalia; (3) a cell phone with incriminating messages; (4) a statement/interview with Appellant which contained admissions and/or statements; (5) a

DNA sample known to belong to Appellant; (6) a more thorough search of the vehicle which yielded additional incriminating evidence; (7) witness identities and testimony (Muth, Kallowat and Williams); (8) Appellant's subsequent consent to search the car, phone, and other containers; and (9) statements by Appellant's father Robert McCrea.

- 1. Fruits of the stop included, but were not limited to, applications for search warrants, warrants, searches, and evidence reflected in the returns. *See* Exhibit 2 at ROA 42 (phone warrant documents) and Exhibit 3 at ROA 42 (auto warrant documents).
- 2. The district court below denied the Motion to Suppress. Tx-MTNS at 27:20-27:24.
- 3. The district court below made the following findings of fact:
 - a. Based on the reports and exhibits described above (Exhibit 1 at ROA 42), the district court concluded "...the officers knew that [Muth] was a wanted person well before the stop..."

- b. Facts Relevant to Issue Two: Denial in Part of Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss.
 - i. The Amended Information, ROA 20, states:

...COUNT 1: Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs, a Felony, under MCA 45-9-102, with a maximum penalty provided by law of imprisonment in the state prison for 5 years and a fine of \$5,000.

The facts constituting the offense are:

COUNT 1: on or about May 5, 2022, in Lake County, Montana, the Defendant, CRAIG ALLEN MCCREA, possessed the dangerous drug fentanyl.

COUNT 2: On or about May 5, 2022, in Lake County, Montana, Defendant, CRAIG ALLEN MCCREA, possessed the dangerous drug methamphetamine.

- 1. The Amended Information in this case was filed pursuant to a Motion and Affidavit for Leave to File an Amended Information (ROA 18), and after examination as required by Art. II, § 20(1) of the Montana Constitution, the district court below granted leave to file the Amended Information. See Order, ROA 19.
- 2. The Affidavit in Support of the Motion for Leave alleged, "...Investigator William Mesteth ...located two small blue Mexican fentanyl pills on the driver's floorboard ...[and

- later] located a baggie of methamphetamine..." ROA 18, at 2:13-2:18.
- 3. The facts alleged in the Amended Information involve a single transaction or occurrence, and a single alleged transgression, which occurred on May 5, 2022 in a Chevy Impala being driven in Lake County. The methamphetamine in Count 2, (as well as the fentanyl in Count 1), were located in the Chevy Impala stopped and seized on May 5, 2022.
- ii. On August 24, 2022, Appellant McCrea was indicted by a United States Grand Jury for conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute fentanyl (in violation of 21 U.S.C. 846) and possession with intent to distribute fentanyl (in violation of 21 U.S.C. 841 and 18 U.S.C. 2). *See* Federal Indictment at Exhibit 1 of ROA 39.
 - 1. The Federal Indictment alleged the date of the crime was between December 8, 2021 and May 5, 2022. *See Id* at Counts 1 and 2 (Defendant was not charged in Counts 3, 4 or 5 of the Indictment). The Federal Indictment was based on two transactions and occurrences, one of which occurred on January 4, 2022 and another which occurred

- on May 5, 2022. The Federal Indictment alleged only possession of fentanyl. *See Id*.
- 2. Federal courts sentence convicted defendants based on a Presentence Investigation Report. See Fed.R.Crim.P. 32. A federal sentence, or punishment, is based on "relevant conduct." See U.S.S.G. §1B1.3. Relevant conduct includes "...all acts and omissions committed, aided, abetted, counseled, commanded, induced, procured, or willfully caused by the defendant..." Id. at §1B1.3(a)(1)(A).
- On May 19, 2023, Appellant McCrea was convicted in the United States District Court for the District of Montana.
 The judgment of conviction and sentence is attached as Exhibit 2 of ROA 39.
- 4. Appellant was convicted, sentenced, and punished for his "relevant conduct" which included possessing both fentanyl and methamphetamine on May 5, 2022. The facts and circumstances of the offense, "The Offense Conduct" is set forth in the Federal Presentence Investigation Report

- "PSR" Exhibit 3 at ROA 43, at pgs. 9-11, and 14, ¶¶38, 42, 47 and 65.
- 5. The facts and allegations supporting Appellant's federal conviction were as follows: Appellant possessed fentanyl with the intent to distribute on January 4, 2022 and May 5, 2022. The May 5, 2022 possession involved, as it does with the Amended Information, possession of two fentanyl pills located in the Chevy Impala registered to Appellant's father. Appellant's recommended sentence was calculated based on the amount of drugs (fentanyl) he was demonstrated to possess, and this calculation included the pills found and seized on May 5, 2022. See PSR, Exhibit 3 at ROA 43, page 9, ¶38. It also included the methamphetamine which is Count 2 of the Amended Information.
- 6. The district court below granted the motion with respect to Count 1 (Fentanyl) but denied it with regard to Count 2 (Methamphetamine). *See* ROA 53. *See Also*, Tx-MTNS at 17:8-18:5.

c. Facts Relevant to Issue Three: Entry of Illegal Sentence.

- i. At sentencing the district court gave no indication it was imposing the sentence on Count 2 of Case No. DC-22-124 consecutive to the non-existent and as yet unimposed sentence in Case No. DC-22-126. See Tx at 14:17-24:13.
- ii. The minute entry for the sentencing proceedings on January 24, 2024 similarly makes no mention of the sentence being consecutive to any non-existent or as yet unimposed sentences. *See* ROA 60.
- iii. The Judgment nevertheless provides "...The Sentences² [sic] shall run Concurrent To his Federal sentence for Possession With Intent to Distribute Fentanyl and Consecutive to any sentence that might be imposed in DC-22-126." ROA 61 at 1:11-1:13.
- iv. Appellant filed a timely objection pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-18-116(2), ROA 64, alleging the written judgment conflicted with the oral pronouncement of the Court because:
 - The Court's oral pronouncement was Appellant's sentence on Count 2 of the Amended Information in DC-22-124 was concurrent with his Federal Sentence in United States District Court for the District of Montana, Case No. CR-

² One, and only one, sentence was entered by the district court on January 24, 2024.

- 22-41-M-DWM and did not state it would be consecutive (or concurrent) to any non-existent sentences, such as the non-existent sentence in DC-22-126.
- 2. Appellant received no other sentences on January 24, 2024. He pled guilty to Count 2, and only Count 2. The Court dismissed Count 1 in the Order at ROA 53. There were no other counts in the Amended Information in DC-22-124.
- 3. See ROA 64.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(e), Appellant states the standard of review for each issue presented for review is as follows:

Issue One. Erroneous Denial of Motion to Suppress. This Court has two interrelated standards of review of a district court's ruling on a motion to suppress.

- a. This Court's review is plenary as to whether the district court correctly interpreted and applied the law. *See State v. Bieber*, 2007 MT 262, ¶20, 339 Mont. 309, 170 P.3d 444.
- b. This Court reviews a district court's factual findings, upon which a motion to suppress is based, on a clearly erroneous standard. *See Id.* To determine whether a finding of fact is clearly erroneous, this Court ascertains whether

the finding is supported by substantial evidence, whether the district court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, and whether the Court is nevertheless left with a definite and firm conviction that the district court made a mistake. *Id*.

Issue Two. Erroneous Denial in Part of Plea of Former Jeopardy and Motion to Dismiss.

a. "A district court's denial of a defendant's motion to dismiss a charge on the basis of double jeopardy presents a question of law that this Court reviews for correctness." *State v. Cech*, 2007 MT 184, ¶7, 338 Mont. 330, 167 P.3d 389, *citing State v. Beavers*, 1999 MT 260, ¶21, 296 Mont. 340, 987 P.2d 371.

Issue Three. Imposition of an Illegal Sentence.

a. The determination of whether a sentence is legal is a question of law upon which this Court exercises *de novo* review. *State v. Rosling*, 2008 MT 62, ¶59, 342 Mont. 1, 180 P.3d 1102, *citing State v. Ariegwe*, 2007 MT 204, ¶175, 338 Mont. 442, 167 P.3d 815.

V. ARGUMENT.

Pursuant to M. R. App. P. 12(1)(f) and (g), Appellant makes his Argument and precedes same with a summary of the argument.

a. Summary of Argument.

On May 5, 2022, Appellant McCrea was driving a Chevy Impala with three passengers aboard: Muth, Kallowat, and Williams. Appellant did not violate any traffic laws or regulations. Officers allegedly stopped the Impala because one of the passengers, Muth, had one or more warrants for her arrest. The officers did not know whether Muth had a warrant but instead called "Dispatch" to ascertain whether a warrant existed. Without waiting for Dispatch to advise them of Muth's warrant status, the officers stopped the Impala, and after the stop, after detaining the occupants, after questioning the occupants, after securing the scene, the officers were subsequently advised by Dispatch that Muth indeed had a warrant for her arrest. At the time of the stop, the Officers did not have reasonable suspicion to stop the Chevy Impala.

Appellant engaged in one transgression against society on May 5, 2022 involving one transaction. He was convicted and punished in federal court for this transgression and is being punished again by virtue of his conviction and sentence on Count 2 of the Amended Information in the district court below. Art. II, §25 of the Montana Constitution as presently interpreted, prohibits this circumstance.

Alternatively, §25 should be interpreted consistently with the intent of the framers and should be held to prohibit Appellant's conviction and sentence on Count 2 of the Amended Information.

The sentence reflected in the Judgment at ROA 61 is illegal. A district court cannot impose a sentence consecutive to, (or concurrent with), a non-existent or as yet unimposed sentence in another matter. The Judgment indicates the sentence is "...Consecutive to any sentence that might be imposed in DC-22-126..." and it is therefore illegal and in violation of "sound sentencing principles." *State v. McGuire*, 260 Mont. 386, 860 P.2d 148 (1993). The illegal components of the sentence must be stricken.

b. Argument.

i. The May 5, 2022 Stop Violated the Constitution.

Appellant McCrea was illegally stopped (seized) and as a result of the illegal and unconstitutional seizure, State agents discovered evidence, witness identities, witness testimony and obtained statements from Appellant and others. All the evidence from each stop is a fruit of the constitutional violation, no exception to the exclusionary rule applies, and the Court must suppress and exclude the evidence from trial.

1. Burden of and Standard of Proof.

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