10/31/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0178

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 24-0178

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

#### CRAIG ALLEN MCCREA.

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

On Appeal from the Montana Twentieth Judicial District Court, Lake County, The Honorable Robert L. Deschamps III, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
KATIE F. SCHULZ
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
kschulz@mt.gov

JAMES LAPOTKA Lake County Attorney 106 Fourth Avenue East Polson, MT 59860

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court correctly denied McCrea's motion to suppress based on its determination that Detective Sciaretta learned from dispatch that there was an active warrant for Muth before the stop was initiated. McCrea's reliance upon his interpretation of the "dispatch remarks" set out at the end of the detective's report does not overcome the logical sequence of events in the detective's narrative, which was supported by the quoted conversation between Detective Sciaretta and the dispatcher. McCrea asked the court to make its ruling based upon the pleadings and agreed the dispatch audio was inconsistent with his claim. His

acquiescence to not holding an evidentiary hearing undermines his claim on appeal that the State did not meet its burden. The district court's finding was not clearly erroneous given the substantial evidence that the officers confirmed Muth had an active warrant for her arrest and was also McCrea's passenger before the stop was initiated. The district court did not err when it denied McCrea's motion to suppress.

The district court was also correct when it concluded that Count II did not constitute an improper charge under Montana's constitutional double jeopardy protections. This Court has already rejected McCrea's argument that the "same conduct test" should apply to Montana's double jeopardy provision. The district court properly noted that McCrea's federal conviction (possession of fentanyl with intend to distribute) involved a different drug than the charge at issue here, possession of methamphetamine. Based on the language enacted by Montana's Legislature that criminalized possession of any dangerous drug as defined by the Legislature, this Court has determined that each distinct "dangerous drug" constitutes an "allowable unit of prosecution."

Finally, the State agrees that the district court's written judgment and sentence improperly included language that had not been orally pronounced and the matter should be remanded with instructions to issue an amended order that comports with the oral pronouncement.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The district court correctly denied McCrea's motion to suppress the drugs found in McCrea's vehicle.<sup>3</sup>

Montanans are entitled to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures by the constitutions of both Montana and the United States. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Mont. Const. art. II, § 11. While generally government searches and seizures are unlawful under the state and federal constitutions absent a judicial warrant being issued for probable cause, law enforcement officers are permitted to stop an individual for a limited investigation when circumstances create a "particularized suspicion" that the person is or has been engaged in the commission of a crime. *Schlichenmayer*, ¶ 15 (citing Mont. Code Ann. § 46-5-401(1)).

Particularized suspicion for an investigative stop requires the peace officer to have: "(1) objective data and articulable facts from which he or she can make certain reasonable inferences; and (2) a resulting suspicion that the person to be stopped has committed, is committing, or is about to commit an offense." *Pham*, ¶ 21. The existence of particularized suspicion is determined by looking at the totality of the circumstances, but the related question of whether the circumstances

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>On Appeal, McCrea asserts that nine pieces of evidence were obtained as the result of the allegedly improper stop. (Opening Brief (Br.) at 8-9.) This case deals only with the first two items (illegal drugs and drug paraphernalia). McCrea's arguments regarding the legality of the collection of the remaining pieces of evidence (Br. at 28-33) will not be addressed by the State herein as they were not at issue in the drug possession case.

indicated illegal activity is a question of law. *Pham*,  $\P$  21. This standard does not require that an officer be certain, or even correct, that a person is engaged in criminal activity, but it does require more than mere generalized suspicion or an undeveloped hunch of criminal activity. *Pham*,  $\P$  21.

There is no dispute that Detective Sciaretta called the local dispatcher on his cell phone to confirm that Muth did have an active warrant for her arrest. Police officers "may rely on information conveyed by a reliable third person . . . in forming the basis for a particularized suspicion to justify an investigative stop." *State v. Pratt*, 286 Mont. 156, 162, 951 P.2d 37, 41 (1997).

It is also undisputed that the officer was advised that Muth had a \$15,000 active warrant for her arrest. Knowledge of an active arrest warrant is sufficient probable cause for the occupant of a vehicle and constitutes particularized suspicion. *City of Billings v. Costa*, 2006 MT 181, ¶¶ 18-21, 333 Mont. 84, 140 P.3d 1070; *State v. Kriesel*, 2000 MT 144, ¶ 12, 300 Mont. 44, 2 P.3d 831 (stop properly initiated to detain Kriesel under the authority of a valid outstanding warrant satisfying the probable cause requirement of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-6-201).

The crux of McCrea's argument was *when* officers learned Muth had active warrants for her arrest. McCrea relied solely upon his interpretation of the "dispatch remarks" at the end of Detective Sciaretta's report. (Doc. 41; Br. at 7-8.) According to McCrea, these "remarks" established the following timeline of

events: at 11:35:29 a.m., the traffic stop was initiated; at 11:41:05 a.m.,

Detective Sciaretta advised dispatch that there were four officers on scene and

McCrea and Muth had been detained; and at 11:41:33 a.m., the dispatcher advised

Detective Sciaretta about Muth's warrants. (Doc. 41 at 5; Br. at 8.) McCrea's

version of the timeline is not compelling for several reasons.

First, McCrea's interpretation ignores the detective's report narrative and logical sequence of events. Detective Sciaretta's report states that he was on patrol with Investigator Mesteth at approximately 11:30 a.m. (Report at 5.) The detective contacted dispatch as soon as Investigators Fisher and Haynes confirmed Muth was in the Impala, which was before McCrea drove through the backyard to Ashley Spur Road. Detective Sciaretta reported:

[Investigators Haynes and Fisher] observed [McCrea] was in the drivers [sic] seat and the front passenger was believed to be Cassidy Muth. Two other occupants were observed in the back seat but could not be identified. I know Cassidy Muth to also be a drug user and dealer. I made contact with Lake County 911 dispatch and was informed Cassidy had active drug warrants for her arrest.

While checking on Cassidy [sic] warrants, the vehicle was observed by Inv. Mesteth coming out on Ashley Spur towards the college.

(Report at 5.) Detective Sciaretta and Investigator Mesteth "continued at this time to conduct a soft tail of the vehicle" and coordinated with Investigators Haynes and Fisher so they could intersect with the Impala on Silver Fox Lane and confirm Muth was the passenger. (*Id.* at 6.)

Unless the detective had already learned from dispatch that there were active warrants for Muth's arrest, there would have been no reason to ask the other investigators to confirm that Muth was the passenger and coordinate how they could accomplish that.

Second, as Detective Sciaretta explained, he was on the phone with dispatch learning about Muth's warrants before McCrea began driving on to Ashley Spur Road. McCrea drove for about a mile to Silver Fox Lane and, after turning southbound on Highway 93, then drove for over another mile before the officers initiated the traffic stop. In the amount of time it took those vehicles to reach the overpass south of Pablo, the dispatcher would have had more than sufficient time to report to Detective Sciaretta that there was an active warrant for Muth.

Lastly, McCrea's interpretation of the dispatch remarks requires the presumption that the notation "ADV 1512 of MUTHS 29" was the first time that information was passed along to the officers. The notation McCrea relies upon may be a second or subsequent explanation of Muth's warrant status. Nothing in "dispatch remarks" establishes that notation was the only advisement about warrants. In contrast, Detective Sciaretta's narrative clearly states that he confirmed there was an active warrant for Muth before he asked the others to confirm she was a passenger and before the traffic stop was initiated. The recorded

conversation between the detective and dispatch also supports the progression of events described by the detective in his report.

McCrea's interpretation of the dispatch remarks was directly refuted by the undisputed excerpt of the recorded conversation between Dispatcher Monica and Detective Sciaretta. After the State submitted its response that included a direct quote from the relevant conversation, McCrea did not challenge its accuracy and instead replied that the recording should be excluded from the court's consideration because it was not disclosed to him sooner. The court did not grant that relief, and McCrea has not appealed that ruling. Alternatively, in his reply, McCrea asserted the "new evidence is inconsistent with the written reports" and the district court "must resolve the inconsistency." (Doc. 2.) McCrea reiterated this position at the hearing when he advised the court that an evidentiary hearing was not necessary. The record supports that McCrea admitted the dispatch audio undermined his claim that the officers learned about Muth's warrant after the stop.

After advising McCrea that the reports attached to his motion to suppress established the officers knew there was an active warrant for Muth before stopping the vehicle, the court asked if McCrea wanted the court to set a hearing where he could offer additional evidence. At this point, McCrea was on notice that the court had determined his motion failed to establish facts that showed the evidence should be suppressed. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-13-302(2) (court only required to hear

merits of suppression motion "[i]f the motion states facts that, if true, would show that the evidence should be suppressed"). Absent a statutory mandate, courts have "discretion to conduct a hearing on the merits of a motion." Mont. Code Ann. § 46-13-104(2).

Despite this determination, McCrea declined the court's offer to hold an evidentiary hearing and invited the court to weigh the evidence as presented in the briefs. The district court properly exercised its discretion to not hold a hearing when the defendant explicitly stated there was no need to do so. It would have been a waste of judicial resources to conduct a hearing when McCrea did not dispute Detective Sciaretta's report narrative or the quoted conversation between the detective and the dispatcher. "An evidentiary hearing is unnecessary when facts are uncontested and the court is asked to make a decision as a matter of law." *State v. Schulke*, 2005 MT 77, ¶ 28, 326 Mont. 390, 109 P.3d 744 (citing *State v. Shook*, 2002 MT 347, ¶ 19, 313 Mont. 347, 67 P.3d 863).

McCrea effectively requested the court make a decision as a matter of law when he declined the opportunity to present evidence in support of his interpretation of the dispatch remarks and explicitly invited the court to resolve any perceived inconsistencies without the State presenting witness testimony. McCrea cannot now complain the court erred because the State failed to meet its burden.

A bedrock in Montana jurisprudence is the maxim that "[a]cquiescence in error takes away the right of objecting to it." Mont. Code Ann. § 1-3-207. Accordingly, this Court will not place a "court in error 'for an action to which the appealing party acquiesced or actively participated." Horn v. Bull River Country Store Props., 2012 MT 245, ¶ 25, 366 Mont. 491, 288 P.3d 218; State v. Gardner, 2003 MT 338, ¶ 44, 318 Mont. 436, 80 P.3d 1262 cert. denied, 541 U.S. 1034, 124 S. Ct. 2105, 158 L. Ed. 2d 718 (2004); *In re A.A.*, 2005 MT 119, ¶¶ 26-28, 327 Mont. 127, 112 P.3d 993 (Court will not find reversible error for an error or omission that an appellant participated in, acquiesced in, or failed to object, particularly in the absence of a showing that the error or omission materially prejudiced the appellant's substantial rights). The district court did not abuse its discretion when it accepted McCrea's decision not to request an evidentiary hearing. *Schulke*,  $\P$  10.

McCrea is effectively asking this Court to review the same information he agreed the district court could review, but come to an opposite conclusion. However, this Court "will not, on appeal, reweigh the evidence or substitute our evaluation of the evidence for that of the district court." *State v. Geno*, 2024 MT 142, ¶ 18, 417 Mont. 135, 552 P.3d 51 (citation omitted).

The "dispatch remarks" relied upon by McCrea did not nullify the undisputed language from Detective Sciaretta's report or his recorded conversation

that established that before the stop was initiated, the officers knew that: (1) there was an active warrant for Muth; and (2) Muth was a passenger in the Impala.

The district court did not misapprehend the effect of the substantial evidence that established the officers had confirmed Muth had warrants before initiating the traffic stop. *Schlichenmayer*, ¶ 11. The district court's findings were not clearly erroneous, and the court correctly applied the law when it denied McCrea's motion to suppress. *Id*.

# II. The district court correctly denied McCrea's motion to dismiss on constitutional double jeopardy grounds.

McCrea asserts only that the district court erred by not dismissing Count II, criminal possession of methamphetamine, based on Mont. Const. art. II, § 25.

McCrea explicitly abandoned any challenge to the court's ruling based on Mont.

Code Ann. § 46-11-504. (Br. at 4 n.1.)<sup>4</sup>

McCrea alleges that his conviction for Count II caused him to "suffer[] twice for the single act allegedly committed on May 5, 2022, possession of dangerous drugs (fentanyl and methamphetamine)." (Br. at 34.) McCrea further asserts he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See State v. Becker, 2005 MT 75, 326 Mont. 364, 110 P.3d 1 (double jeopardy challenges pursuant to the United States Constitution, Montana's Constitution, and Montana's statutory protections are distinct and separate); Buchanan v. Spaulding, 2022 Mont. LEXIS 909, 410 Mont. 543, 517 P.3d 903 (Mont. 2022) (Montana's statutory protections against multiple prosecutions were enacted apart from constitutional jurisprudence regarding double jeopardy).

was "punished a second time for offenses which arose out of a single transaction." (Br. at 34.) McCrea urges this Court to grant him relief applying the "same conduct" test from *Grady v. Corbin*, 495 U.S. 508, 510 (1990). (*Id.* at 35-41.) McCrea's arguments are not compelling.

First, the United States Supreme Court overruled *Grady* in *United States v. Dixon*, 509 U.S. 688, 704 (1993). Second, this Court has already rejected McCrea's argument that the "same conduct" test from *Grady* should apply to Montana's constitutional double jeopardy provision. *Miller v. First Judicial Dist. Court*, Case No. OP-21-0475, 405 Mont. 541, 495 P.3d 424 (Order, Sept. 29, 2021). Miller, a commercial truck driver, was cited and convicted for failing to properly maintain his truck's suspension system in Missoula County and was charged in Lewis and Clark County for negligently causing the death of another driver when the axel of his truck came loose and struck another vehicle. *Id.* Both charges alleged the same offense date. *Id.* Miller sought a writ of supervisory control to prohibit the State from prosecuting him for negligent homicide, alleging it constituted multiple prosecutions for a single act.

Just like McCrea, Miller relied on "selected comments made during the 1972 Constitutional Convention [to argue] that the Court should honor a greater protection under the Montana Constitution and apply [the *Grady*] 'same conduct' test for double jeopardy to prohibit a second prosecution on a new charge arising

from a single 'transgression against society.'" *Miller*, \*4. Also like McCrea, Miller relied on this Court's decision in *State v. Guillaume*, 1999 MT 29, ¶ 16, 293 Mont. 224, 975 P.2d 312, that recognized article II, section 25, of the Montana Constitution provides greater protection against multiple punishments for the same offense than the Fifth Amendment to support his argument. *Id.* \*5.

This Court found neither of Miller's arguments compelling and reiterated that the test from *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932), is the appropriate test in determining whether multiple convictions based on the same transaction are barred under article II, section 25, of the Montana Constitution. *Miller*, \*3 (citation omitted).

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